Filed 02-17-2021

Page 1 of 44

FILED 02-17-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2020AP2081-AC

WISCONSIN MANUFACTURERS AND COMMERCE, MUSKEGO AREA CHAMBER OF COMMERCE AND NEW BERLIN CHAMBER OF COMMERCE AND VISITORS BUREAU,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

TONY EVERS, in his official capacity as Governor of Wisconsin, ANDREA PALM, in her official capacity as Secretary-Designee of the Wisconsin Department of Health Services and JOEL BRENNAN, in his official capacity as Secretary of the Wisconsin Department of Administration,

Defendants,

MILWAUKEE JOURNAL SENTINEL,

Intervenor-Appellant.

Case No. 2020AP2103-AC

INTRODUCTION

This interlocutory appeal concerns whether the plaintiffs, which are business trade groups, may enjoin release of public records that, according to them, contain confidential patient health information related to COVID-19 cases. The records in question contain no personal information, but rather they aggregate the number of reported cases associated with businesses that meet certain criteria. This Court took jurisdiction of the appeal after the circuit court declined to dismiss the case but rather entered a temporary injunction barring release of the records.

That was error for two threshold reasons.

First, the plaintiffs are business trade groups that have come to court invoking a statute concerning individual patients' rights. They may not do that: the trade groups lack standing and have no business filing an action premised on the patient health care records law. That basic reality—that there is a fundamental mismatch between what the plaintiffs attempt here and what the statutes protect—should have made dismissal straightforward.

The second reason the circuit court should have dismissed the case also is based on a statutory directive. The plaintiffs have no right to bar release of these public records, which come with a strong presumption of disclosure, where the public records law specifically limits who may do so and when. The plaintiffs lack a right to thwart that process.

In these proceedings, the plaintiffs have had no bona fide response to these statutory problems with their case. Rather, they have resorted to Wisconsin's declaratory judgments act, asserting that the act—which allows for a judgment *about* a litigant's legally protected rights under a statute—can somehow serve as a stand-in for a *lack of* a statute supporting the plaintiffs' claim. That is exactly backwards. This Court should reverse the circuit court's orders denying the defendants' dismissal motion and granting a preliminary injunction, and it should direct that on remand this case be dismissed.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Wisconsin Stat. § 146.84(1)(c) provides that "[a]n individual may bring an action to enjoin any violation of s. 146.82," which concerns certain patient health care records. The plaintiffs are three trade associations that filed a declaratory-judgment action to enjoin the release of records they believe are confidential "patient health care records" under section 146.82(4), even though the records contain no personally identifiable information. The data concern reported COVID-19 cases associated with businesses that are the plaintiffs' members. The Department of Health Services (DHS) planned to release the records in response to valid public records requests, but the circuit court enjoined it from doing so.

Do the plaintiffs have standing to pursue their action for an injunction under section 146.84(1)(c)?

The circuit court answered, yes.

This Court should answer, no.

2. Wisconsin Stat. § 19.356(1) provides that "[e]xcept as authorized in this section or as otherwise provided by statute . . . no person is entitled to judicial review of the decision of an authority to provide a requester with access to a record." The plaintiffs disavowed reliance on section 19.356 and instead filed a general declaratory-judgment action under Wis. Stat. § 806.04, seeking an injunction prohibiting DHS from releasing the records.

Does Wis. Stat. § 806.04 create an exception to Wis. Stat. § 19.356(1)'s limits on seeking judicial review of the decision to provide a requester with access to a public record? The circuit court answered, yes.

This Court should answer, no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Court has scheduled oral argument.

Publication may be warranted. While the statutes are unambiguous, this Court may wish to consider publishing its decision to confirm who may pursue injunctive relief as to patient health care records under Wis. Stat. § 146.84(1)(c) and Wis. Stat. § 19.356(1). *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1)(a)1., 5.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about public records requests made to DHS for records it has relating to businesses that had two or more COVID-19 cases associated with their business. DHS has not produced responsive records, as the circuit court's temporary injunction prevents their release.

The operative pleading is the first amended complaint, (R. 37, App. 101–16), which alleges facts that are summarized below. Record citations are to the appellate record in case number 2020AP2103.

I. Overview of DHS's authority to gather and report information about communicable disease.

Before addressing the facts, it is useful to understand DHS's authority to gather and report information about communicable diseases like COVID-19. Chapters 250 and 252 of the Wisconsin statutes give DHS the power to investigate the existence of communicable diseases and the duty to report its findings to the public.

A. Wisconsin Stat. ch. 250 – Health; Administration and Supervision.

Chapter 250 establishes general powers and duties of DHS, including powers related to investigating and reporting about public health issues. DHS "may investigate the cause and circumstances of any special or unusual disease or inspect any public building and may do any act necessary for the investigation." Wis. Stat. § 250.04(1). DHS must "establish and maintain surveillance activities sufficient to detect any occurrence of acute, communicable or chronic diseases," "analyze occurrences, trends and patterns of" such diseases "and distribute information based on the analyses," and cooperate with local health departments to "maintain a public health data system." Wis. Stat. § 250.04(3)(a), (b)1. & 2.

Under Wis. Stat. § 250.04(3)(b)3., DHS "may conduct investigations, studies, experiments and research pertaining to any public health problems which are a cause or potential cause of morbidity or mortality and methods for the prevention or amelioration of those public health problems." While raw data in the form of "[i]ndividual questionnaires or surveys shall be treated as confidential patient health care records under ss. 146.81 to 146.835," the statute contemplates public disclosure of de-identified data: "the information in those questionnaires and surveys may be released in statistical summaries." Wis. Stat. § 250.04(3)(b)3. In addition, "patient health care records shall be released without informed consent" if they "do not contain information and the circumstances of the release do not provide information that would permit the identification of the patient." Wis. Stat. § 146.82(2)(a)20.

DHS may also "use hospital emergency room and inpatient health care records, abstracts of these records and information the state or federal government collects to correlate exposure to certain occupational and high risk environments with resulting acute or chronic health problems." Wis. Stat. § 250.04(3)(b)4. "If [DHS] finds that an occupational health hazard exists, it shall disseminate its findings and promote efforts to educate employees and employers about the health hazard." *Id*.

B. Wisconsin Stat. ch. 252 – Communicable Diseases.

Chapter 252 specifically addresses communicable diseases and gives DHS and local officials additional powers and duties related to investigation, data gathering, and data distribution. Further, DHS may promulgate and enforce administrative rules "for guarding against the introduction of any communicable disease into the state" and for controlling it. Wis. Stat. § 252.02(4). It has done so in Wis. Admin. Code. ch. DHS 145 (entitled "Control of communicable diseases").

Under Wis. Stat. § 252.02(1), DHS "may establish systems of disease surveillance and inspection to ascertain the presence of any communicable disease." In this context, "surveillance" means "the systematic collection of data pertaining to the occurrence of specific diseases, the analysis and interpretation of these data and the dissemination of consolidated and processed information to those who need to know." Wis. Admin. Code DHS § 145.03(26).

Local health officials also play a role in identifying communicable disease in the community. "Every local health officer, upon the appearance of any communicable disease in his or her territory, shall immediately investigate all the circumstances and make a full report to the appropriate governing body and also to [DHS]." Wis. Stat. § 252.03(1).

DHS obtains data several ways. Wisconsin Stat. § 252.05 addresses reporting communicable diseases, and it requires that observed cases be reported to DHS and other entities. Health care providers, as defined in chapter 146, must report to a local health officer the appearance of a communicable disease in a person they treat or visit. Wis. Stat. § 252.05(1); see also Wis. Admin. Code DHS § 145.04(1)(a). The local health officer must report the information to DHS or direct the health care provider to do so. *Id.* Laboratories analyzing specimens that indicate an individual has a communicable disease also must report it to DHS. *See* Wis. Stat. § 252.05(2); *see also* Wis. Admin. Code DHS § 145.04(1)(b). Further, "[a]nyone having knowledge or reason to believe that any person has a communicable disease shall report the facts to the local health officer or to [DHS]." Wis. Stat. § 252.05(3); *see also* Wis. Admin. Code DHS § 145.04(1)(e).

Reports by local health care providers and labs under Wis. Stat. § 252.05(1) and (2) "shall state so far as known the name, sex, age, and residence of the person, the communicable disease and other facts [DHS] or the local health officer requires," and may be made on forms DHS furnishes and the local health officer distributes. Wis. Stat. § 252.05(4); *see also* Wis. Admin. Code DHS § 145.04(2). To illustrate, a copy of the Acute and Communicable Disease Case Report form, F-44151 (Rev. 07/2019), is found at: https://www.dhs.wisconsin.gov/forms/f4/f44151.pdf. Reports must be made within 24 hours unless otherwise specified by DHS. Wis. Stat. § 252.05(5).

"Any local health officer, upon receiving a report, shall cause a permanent record of the report to be made and upon demand of [DHS] transmit the original or a copy to [DHS], together with other information [DHS] requires." Wis. Stat. § 252.05(6). DHS "may store these records as paper or electronic records and shall treat them as patient health care records under ss. 146.81 to 146.835." *Id*.

II. Factual background.

The plaintiffs are three trade associations: Wisconsin Manufacturers and Commerce ("WMC"), Muskego Area Chamber of Commerce, and New Berlin Chamber of Commerce and Visitors Bureau. (R. 37:3-5 ¶¶ 5–13, App. 103–05.) Their members are Wisconsin businesses. (See R. 37:3-5 ¶¶ 5–13, App. 103–05.) Each plaintiff alleges that the "release of confidential medical information of the employees of [their] members will violate those employees' right to privacy and unfairly harm the reputation of [their] members." (R. 37:3-5 ¶¶ 5, 8, 11, App. 103–05.)

The defendants are Governor Tony Evers, DHS Secretary-designee Andrea Palm,¹ and Department of Administration Secretary Joel Brennan, in their official capacities. (R. $37:6-7 \P\P 14-16$, App. 106–07.) The intervenor-defendant is Milwaukee Journal Sentinel. (R. $37:7 \P 17$, App. 107.)

On September 30, 2020, as a courtesy, Secretary Brennan informed WMC that, in response to a public records request, the defendants "plan to release the names of all Wisconsin businesses with over 25 employees that have had at least two employees test positive for COVID-19 or that have had close case contacts that were investigated by contact tracers." (R. 37:9 ¶ 24, App. 109.) That referenced outbreak data would include in its count positive cases related to employees, their family members or close contacts, and customers. The planned release would include "the businesses' name and the number of known or suspected cases of COVID-19," dating back to at least May 2020. (R. 37:9 ¶ 25,

¹ Andrea Palm is no longer the Secretary-designee of DHS. The current interim secretary is Karen Timberlake. Because this is an official capacity suit, this Court should substitute Karen Timberlake because "the successor is automatically substituted as a party." Wis. Stat. § 803.10(4).

App. 109.) He told WMC that "there are more than 1,000 employers that meet [that] criteria," and that the release would occur on October 2. (R. 37:9 ¶¶ 26–28, App. 109.)

The record contains an example of a records request that led to DHS's planned release. (*See* R. 19:2–3 (June 6, 2020, e-mail request from the Milwaukee Journal Sentinel)). The other requests are not in the record. However, the defendants filed under seal in the circuit court response letters dated October 2 and examples of the responsive records. Those records are found at record entries 43 through 45.

The plaintiffs allege that the "information that Defendants plan to release is derived from diagnostic test results and the records of contact tracers investigating COVID-19." (R. 37:3 ¶ 3, App. 103.) They allege that the information constitutes "patient health care records" that "must be kept confidential" under Wis. Stat. §§ 146.81 and 146.82. (R. 37:3 ¶ 3, App. 103.) Releasing the records to the requesters would allegedly "violate the privacy of thousands of Wisconsin citizens employed by the businesses that Plaintiffs represent, would contravene the substantial protection that Wisconsin statutes provide to the privacy of individual's medical information, further damage an Wisconsin's business community, and undermine the efforts of local health authorities to control the virus." (R. $37:3 \P 4$, App. 103.)

III. Procedural history.

The plaintiffs filed their initial complaint on October 1, 2020, and a motion for an ex parte temporary restraining order and temporary injunction. (R. 4–8.) The same day, the circuit court entered an ex parte temporary restraining order prohibiting the defendants from releasing the requested records. (*See* R. 13:2.)

On October 6, the defendants filed a brief in opposition to the plaintiffs' motion. (R. 21.) The circuit court held a motion hearing on October 7 on the issuance of an injunction and an extension of the temporary restraining order. (R. 26:2.) On October 8, the court entered an order extending the temporary restraining order to November 30, and it set another motion hearing for that day. (R. 26:2; 23.)

Milwaukee Journal Sentinel filed an unopposed motion to intervene, which the circuit court granted. (R. 15; 18; 24.) It also filed a motion to dismiss, and the parties proceeded to further brief the pending motions to dismiss and to temporarily enjoin release. (R. 30–31.) On October 23, the plaintiffs filed a first amended complaint. (R. 32–37, App. 101–16 (First Am. Compl.).) Subsequently, the defendants filed proposed public records response letters and examples of the responsive records DHS sought to release, along with a motion to seal, which the court granted. (R. 38; 41; 43–45 (sealed records); 67.) The defendants also filed a motion to dismiss and relied on their prior briefing in support of it. (R. 69:1.)

After briefing was complete, the circuit court held a motion hearing on November 30. (R. 100 (transcript), App. 121–43.) The court orally denied the motions to dismiss and granted the motion for a temporary injunction. (R. 100:12, 18, App. 132, 138.)

The court noted that "[i]t appears that the primary issue here is the party seeking declaratory relief has a legally protectible interest in the controversy," which "has been expressed in the terms of standing in the past." (R. 100:4–5, App. 124–25.) The court briefly addressed the plaintiffs' taxpayer-standing argument—which the court characterized as "rather tenuous," (R. 100:6, App. 126)—and focused instead on the plaintiffs' "zone of interests assertion of standing." (R. 100:6, App. 126.) The court determined that it was "satisfied under the facts and circumstances of this case that the plaintiff has established standing primarily under the zone-of-interests concept." (R. 100:11, App. 131.) The court also determined that the plaintiffs' action was justiciable under the declaratory judgments act, Wis. Stat. § 806.04. (R. 100:11–12, App. 131–32.)

Regarding the temporary-injunction motion, the court held that it was "certainly satisfied that these are confidential patient health care records," protected from disclosure by state and federal law, and that "[t]he identity of employers are considered part of those confidential patient health care records." (R. 100:12–13, App. 132–33.) "Disclosure can only be appropriate when they are de-identified," which was an issue the parties disputed. (R. 100:13, App. 133.) The court could not "make any findings that appropriate de-identification has been demonstrated in compliance with state law and HIPAA law" and believed the plaintiffs had "a reasonable probability of ultimate success on the merits." (R. 100:13–14, App. 133– 34.)

Regarding irreparable harm to the plaintiffs, the court identified the harm as being to businesses whose "names will be supplied in conjunction with data that says two or more of their employees tested positive for COVID-19 . . . and what that will do to these businesses." (R. 100:15–16, App. 135–36.) The court found "that there is irreparable harm to these businesses by the disclosure of the information." (R. 100:17, App. 137.)

On December 4, the court entered written orders denying the motions to dismiss and granting the temporaryinjunction motion. (R. 73–75, App. 117–20.) The injunction orders that the defendants "and their officers, agents, and employees . . . are temporarily enjoined from releasing any information relating to businesses whose employees have tested positive for COVID-19 or who contract tracing has shown close connections." (R. 75:2, App. 120.) Finally, the plaintiffs filed a motion for leave to file a second amended complaint on December 8. (R. 76–78.) The proposed complaint seeks to add two individual plaintiffs who allege they are employees at entities that would be included in the records release. (R. 78:6–7 ¶¶ 14–15.) The motion is being held in abeyance pending this interlocutory appeal.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Standing. Whether a party has standing is a question of law reviewed de novo. Krier v. Vilione, 2009 WI 45, ¶ 14, 317 Wis. 2d 388, 766 N.W.2d 517.

Statutory interpretation. The interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 146.84, Wis. Stat. § 19.356, and other statutes at issue are questions of law reviewed de novo. Tetra Tech EC, Inc. v. DOR, 2018 WI 75, ¶ 84, 382 Wis. 2d 496, 914 N.W.2d 21.

ARGUMENT

I. The plaintiffs lack standing to pursue a declaratory-judgment action for an injunction under Wis. Stat. § 146.84(1)(c) because they are not individuals whose patient health care records are at issue.

The circuit court erred on threshold legal questions that should have ended the case. Namely, the court erred when it concluded that the plaintiffs, which are business trade groups, had standing or a legal right to block the release of statewide COVID-related records. Rather, the statute that addresses the topic of patient health care records, Wis. Stat. § 146.84(1)(c), only allows individuals to seek an injunction prohibiting their release. The plaintiff trade groups are not within the zone of interests protected by the patient health care records law—which concerns *individuals* and *their* rights—and so lack a legally protectible right on which to base their lawsuit. It should have been dismissed based on lack of standing.

A. Legal principles regarding standing and statutory interpretation.

To address standing, the "first step is to determine 'whether the decision of the agency directly causes injury to the interest of the petitioner." *Fox v. DHSS*, 112 Wis. 2d 514, 524, 334 N.W.2d 532 (1983) (citation omitted). Under the first step, plaintiffs "must have 'suffered "some threatened or actual injury resulting from the putatively illegal action."" *Id.* at 524–25 (citations omitted).

"The second step is to determine whether the interest asserted is recognized by law." *Id.* at 524 (citation omitted). Under that step, which is a standalone hurdle, courts look to the "provision on which the claim rests" and ask whether it "properly can be understood as granting persons in the plaintiff's position a right to judicial relief." *Foley-Ciccantelli* v. Bishop's Grove Condo. Ass'n, Inc., 2011 WI 36, ¶ 46, 333 Wis. 2d 402, 797 N.W.2d 789 (citation omitted). "[T]he question is whether the party's asserted injury is to an interest protected by a statutory or constitutional provision," which is sometimes referred to as the "zone of interests protected." *Id.* ¶¶ 55–56 (citation omitted).

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