FILED 11-16-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN In the Supreme Court of Wisconsin Appeal Nos. 2020AP2081-AC & 2020AP2103-AC

No. 2020AP2081-AC

Wisconsin Manufacturers and Commerce, Muskego Area Chamber of Commerce, and New Berlin Chamber of Commerce and Visitors Bureau, Plaintiffs-Respondents-Petitioners,

v.

Tony Evers, in his official capacity as Governor of Wisconsin, Karen Timberlake, in her official capacity as Interim Secretary of the Wisconsin Department of Health Services, and Joel Brennan, in his official capacity as Secretary of the Wisconsin Department of Administration,

Defendants,

&

Milwaukee Journal Sentinel, Intervenor-Appellant

No. 2020AP2103-AC

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

If the Associations were correct that the DJA recognizes a right to challenge the release of public records, then there should be decades of cases prior to *Woznicki* bringing such claims. If the Associations were correct, *Woznicki* did not create a new claim at all, and *Woznicki* was completely unnecessary because record subjects could have been bringing DJA claims. But *Woznicki* did create a new claim, which the Associations acknowledge, and that fact defeats their argument.

Once *Woznicki* created that claim, then the claim had an independent life and the DJA could be used to enforce it. *See Jensen*, 2002 WI App 78, ¶8; *Atlas Transit*, 2001 WI App 286, ¶6; *Kraemer Bros.*, 229 Wis. 2d at 92. Even though *Woznicki* was not a declaratory action and most *Woznicki*-era

⁵ There are a few examples of cases where the <u>requester</u> sought declaratory relief. *See, e.g., Law Offices of Wm. A. Pangman & Assocs, S.C. v. Zellmer*, 163 Wis. 2d 1070, 1076, 473 N.W.2d 538, 540 (Ct. App. 1991). However, the distinction between a declaration that

a custodian must turn over a record and a writ or order directing a custodian to do so is inconsequential, *see id.* at 1085 (referring to "declaratory mandamus"), and in at least one instance, the attempt to obtain a declaration was rejected as improper, *see Law Offices of Wm. A. Pangman & Assocs v. Stigler*, 161 Wis. 2d 828, 831, n.2, 468 N.W.2d 784, 785 (Ct. App. 1991) (noting that the action "sounded in mandamus" but that the requester filed a motion for declaratory judgment, to which the custodian objected; the parties and the court agreed to interpret it as a motion for summary judgment).

cases were not declaratory actions,⁶ plaintiffs could choose to style their actions thus if they wished.

However, in 2003, the Legislature eliminated that common-law claim, replacing it with a statutory claim. *See* 2003 Wis. Act 47. Importantly, the Legislature chose to prohibit such claims in all circumstances except those it specifically permitted. Wis. Stat. § 19.356(1). Thus, the common-law claim was eliminated six years after it was created, and from then on no longer provided the basis for a DJA. Actions outside of those allowed in § 19.356 disappeared.

The only previous attempts to bring a claim to halt the release of public records outside of the § 19.356 process both failed. In both cases, courts concluded such claims could not be brought.

In *Moustakis v. DOJ*, a district attorney tried unsuccessfully to enjoin the release of records related to an investigation into his behavior. 2016 WI 42, ¶¶2. This Court concluded that because Moustakis was an "officer" and not an "employee," he fell outside of the narrow exceptions to the rule that

⁶ Linzmeyer, 2002 WI 84; Milwaukee Teachers, 227 Wis. 2d 779; Levin, 2003 WI App 181; Kailin, 226 Wis. 2d 134; Klein, 218 Wis. 2d 487.

"no person is entitled to judicial review of the decision of an authority to provide a requester with access to a record." *Id.*, ¶24, 25, 29-60.

On remand, Moustakis raised additional, but still unsuccessful, arguments why he should be allowed to block release of records. *Moustakis v. DOJ*, No. 18-AP-373 (Wis. Ct. App. May 17, 2019) (unpublished). (I.App. 1-22.) The Court of Appeals concluded that "Moustakis has not demonstrated he is entitled to any form of judicial review or relief," noting that it is "[t]he authority's obligation . . . to release the records if its consideration of the balancing test leads it to that conclusion." *Id.*, ¶29. (I.App. 14-15.) The court confirmed that no free-floating right to challenge the release of records exists: "[T]he 'right' Moustakis seeks to vindicate is not recognized at law." *Id.*, ¶35. (I.App. 17-18.)

Even more pertinently to this case, the Court of Appeals has also expressly concluded that a person outside of § 19.356's purview "lacks standing to bring an action for judicial review of [the release of public records]" via a declaratory judgment action. Wetzler v. Div. of Hearings & Appeals, No. 10-AP-824 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb 16, 2021) (unpublished). (I.App. 23-34.) The Associations argued below that because the Wetzler court reviewed the merits of whether the records should be released despite

that lack of standing, the case actually supports their position. (P. Ct. App. Resp. Br. 45.) However, the court only reviewed the merits because the case was a Chapter 227 review of an administrative decision. *Wetzler*, No. 10-AP-824, ¶¶1-5. (I.App. 23-26.) The court reviewed the merits of the administrative decision first, but separately concluded that the record subject could not seek declaratory relief under the DJA. *Id.*, ¶¶15-16. (I.App. 32-33.) The distinction matters because unlike administrative review under Chapter 227, review under the DJA would be *de novo*.

All of this analysis demonstrates why adopting the Journal Sentinel's interpretation would not "partially repeal" the DJA, impliedly or otherwise. (See P. Br. 46.) Nothing has been "repealed." The DJA still does what it has always done – provide a specific remedy for an existing claim. Once the legislature eliminated the claim for review of a decision to release records (except in circumstances all parties agree do not apply here), the DJA could no longer provide a remedy for that nonexistent claim.

3) The Exclusive Remedy Analysis Is Inapplicable

The Associations argue that because they have no remedy under § 19.356, that statute's procedures are not speedy, effective, and adequate for them, and therefore § 19.356 cannot be an exclusive remedy. (P. Br. 43-44.).

But whether § 19.356 is an "exclusive" remedy is the wrong question. This Court has no need to engage in that analysis because the statute involved tells us exactly when an action like this can and cannot be brought. *See Lister*, 72 Wis. 2d at 307-09 (concluding that the statutory procedure to be followed for a particular claim could not be considered as "merely an 'alternative' remedy" and that the DJA could not be used instead of that proper procedure). The correct question is whether the DJA "otherwise provides" a cause of action.

The problem with trying to apply the analysis from the "exclusive remedy" cases is that those cases are testing an underlying right – a legally protectable interest – that can be enforced in the first place. *See Joint Dist. No. 1 v. Joint Dist. No. 1*, 89 Wis. 2d 598, 608, 278 N.W.2d 876, 880 (1979) (determining ownership of defunct school district's assets and liabilities); *Lister*, 72 Wis. 2d 282 (seeking a refund for allegedly-overpaid tuition); *Lamar Cent. Outdoor, LLC v. Wis. Dept. of Transp.*, 2008 WI App 187, ¶32, 315 Wis. 2d 190, 762 N.W.2d 745 (determining legality of sign located on plaintiff's own property). Faced with such questions, courts then analyze whether the given procedures are sufficient to protect that acknowledged right.

But as demonstrated above, the Associations <u>have no right</u> to challenge the release of public records. *See Moustakis*, No. 18-AP-373, at ¶29 ("Thus, to put it bluntly, Moustakis has no right to seek to enjoin the release of the records under the circumstances here.") (I.App. 15.) The Associations are not entitled to a speedy, effective, and adequate method of challenging the release of these records because they are not entitled to <u>any</u> remedy at all. *Id.*, ¶35 ("Because the 'right' Moustakis seeks to vindicate is not recognized at law, Wis. Stat. § 19.356 does not impede his right to access the courts.") (I.App. 18.)

By contrast, if somebody who was otherwise covered by § 19.356 tried to bring a DJA claim instead, at that point a court might have to decide whether the § 19.356 procedures were speedy, effective, and adequate. But because the Associations have no right to sue to prevent the release of public records, the question of whether the remedy that <u>other</u> people have to prevent the release of public records is adequate is irrelevant.

4) The Associations' Theory Would Undo the Legislature's Choice to Strictly Limit Who Can Challenge the Release of Public Records

Allowing a declaratory judgment action to challenge the release of public records would return Wisconsin to an era intentionally foreclosed by the Legislature.

The *Woznicki* right of review was extended only to public employee record subjects, and that was enough to unleash a flood of litigation necessitating a legislative answer. The Associations – making the same arguments relied on by *Woznicki*, that there must be some way for record subjects to stop the release of records, *see* 202 Wis. 2d at 185 – seek to open the courts up to a much broader swath of litigants seeking to impede the public's right to know. The Associations believe that anybody who might be harmed by the release of records can file a declaratory judgment action to stop that release. That universe of potential litigants dwarfs those of the *Woznicki* era.

Opening up the courts like that would render § 19.356(1)'s prohibition meaningless. If the DJA "otherwise provide[s]" a right to challenge the release of records, then § 19.356(1) has no effect, because every person who would otherwise be prohibited from challenging the release of records could

do so anyway as a declaratory judgment action. Courts must avoid interpreting statutes in a way that would render language surplusage. *Darboy*, 2013 WI App 113, ¶17 (allowing an action prohibited under a more specific statute to be brought under the DJA "would render [the more specific statute] meaningless"), *citing State v. Setagord*, 211 Wis. 2d 397, 427, 565 N.W.2d 506, 518 (1997) ("Statutes are to be construed to avoid rendering any part of the statute meaningless or superfluous.").

The Associations' reading of the DJA would also render a portion of § 146.84(1)(c) surplusage. If a person can file a declaratory judgment action challenging the release of records – and seek an injunction as supplemental relief, see § 806.04(8) – then there is no need for a separate statute allowing an individual to enjoin the release of those records. There would be no need for § 146.84(1)(c) or any other statute allowing individuals to challenge the release of personal records. See § 51.30(9)(c); § 46.90(9)(c); § 55.043(9m)(c).

Perhaps the greatest irony here is that the Associations are asking for greater legal rights than record requesters. Requesters cannot use the DJA to challenge a custodian's decision <u>not</u> to release records. *See Capital Times*Co. v. Doyle, 2011 WI App 137, ¶1, 337 Wis. 2d 544, 807 N.W.2d 666

(mandamus under Wis. Stat. § 19.37 is the exclusive method for requesters to enforce the Open Records Law); *see also State v. Zien*, 2008 WI App 153, ¶¶7, 12, 314 Wis. 2d 340, 761 N.W.2d 15 (trial court dismissed the plaintiff's declaratory judgment claim seeking a declaration that records had to be produced, allowing a mandamus action to proceed). Accepting the Associations' argument would place record subjects in a preferential position *vis-à-vis* record requesters, contrary to the purposes of the Open Records Law expressed forcefully in Wis. Stat. § 19.31.

The Associations argued below it would be absurd not to allow declaratory judgment actions to challenge the release of public records because it would "leav[e] the State with virtually unbridled discretion to violate laws." (R. 36:17; P. Br. in Opp. to Pet. for Leave to Appeal at 30-31.) The Associations claimed the State could release "names, dates of birth, addresses, social security numbers, and bank account numbers of all of its employees" or "releas[e] the records of only its female employees or only its Black employees," and those employees "could do nothing to protect their

⁷ In contrast to the Open Records Law, the Open Meetings Law (which is frequently analyzed in tandem with the Open Records Law) expressly permits declaratory relief. *Compare* Wis. Stat. § 19.37 (Open Records Law remedies, lacking declaratory relief) *with* § 19.97(2) (Open Meetings Law remedies, including declaratory relief); *see State v. Beaver Dam Area Dev. Corp.*, 2008 WI 90, 312 Wis. 2d 84, 752 N.W.2d 295 (an Open Meetings Law case seeking declaratory relief and analyzing Open Records Law considerations).

rights." (*Id.*; see also R. 101:47-48 (suggesting at the temporary injunction hearing that the government might release confidential information in violation of constitutional provisions).)

The Court of Appeals rightly rejected those arguments, pointing out the obvious – that the Legislature can and has restricted and even eliminated many remedies created by courts, particularly remedies <u>against government officials</u>. 2015 WI App 35, ¶45. (App. 29.) There is no overarching principle that all legal wrongs must be enjoinable before they occur. Rather, the default presumption is that legal relief is only available after a harm has been caused, and it takes a special statute like the DJA to create anticipatory relief. *See Lister*, 72 Wis. 2d at 307 (the DJA "authoriz[es] a court to take jurisdiction at a point earlier in time than it would do under ordinary remedial rules and procedures") (citations omitted). It is not absurd to give effect to the Legislature's choice to severely restrict actions to enjoin the release of public records.

Q.

⁸ For example, prior restraints on speech are generally presumed unconstitutional and even unprotected speech, such as defamation, cannot be enjoined before it is first made. *See, e.g., New York Times Co. v. U.S.*, 403 U.S. 713 (1971); *Bantam Books, Inc. v. Sullivan*, 372 U.S. 58 (1963); *see also Cmty. for Creative Non–Violence v. Pierce*, 814 F.2d 663, 672 (D.C. Cir. 1987) ("The usual rule is 'that equity does not enjoin a libel or slander and that the only remedy for defamation is an action for damages.""), *quoting Kukatush Mining Corp. v. SEC*, 198 F.Supp. 508, 510-11 (D.D.C.1961).

Accepting the Associations' arguments would completely undo the very deliberate choice the Legislature made to strictly limit who is permitted to challenge the release of public records. The right of the public to access public records is paramount, and the Legislature has done what it can to ensure that records are produced speedily and with as little interference as possible. The Associations and others who would prefer not to be named in public records cannot be permitted to tie up the release of records for months or years with litigation.

5) Other States' Practices Demonstrate that Wisconsin Does Not Permit the Action the Associations Are Trying to Bring

Finally, the Associations point out that two other states permit declaratory judgment actions to challenge the release of records. (P. Br. 45.)

Not only do those cases not prove the point the Associations are trying to make, they actually demonstrate how the different legal provisions in Wisconsin require a different outcome. None of the cases they cite address anything like the statutory prohibition Wisconsin has in Wis. Stat. § 19.356(1).

The "collected cases" in the cited Pennsylvania case show that, like Wisconsin, Pennsylvania had a *Woznicki* moment. In *Wilson v*.

Commonwealth, Pennsylvania's highest court decided that even though its version of an Open Records Law contained no provision allowing record subjects to challenge release, the court would create one. 50 A.3d 1263, 1276 (Pa. 2012); compare with Woznicki, 202 Wis. 2d at 185 (noting that the Open Records Law "does not explicitly provide a remedy" for record subjects to challenge release before creating such a remedy). The rest of the Pennsylvania cases are simply applications of that principle. Cnty. of Berks v. Pa. Off. Of Open Records, 204 A.3d 534 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 2019); Grine v. Cnty. Of Centre, 138 A.3d 88 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 2016).

But Pennslyvania's equivalent of the *Woznicki* era continued unabated, unlike Wisconsin's. If the Wisconsin Legislature had never enacted § 19.356(1), then Wisconsin courts' jurisprudence on this issue would look like Pennsylvania's. But that difference is key. Pennsylvania still allows a common-law action by a record subject to prevent the release of records. The Wisconsin Legislature eliminated that cause of action and replaced it with a limited statutory action. That difference demonstrates why the Associations have no claim here.

II) THE ASSOCIATIONS LACK STANDING TO BRING THIS CASE

Even if the DJA "otherwise provides" a method to challenge a custodian's decision to release a public record under Wis. Stat. § 19.356(1), the Associations cannot bring such an action here because they lack standing.

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